“Soul Survivor”, Toronto Life, October 2003

When it was built at 1 Spadina Crescent, just north of College, in 1874-5, Knox College -- the Gothic Revival monument to the Presbyterian reformer John Knox -- was occupying its fifth location in 30 years. Austere Victorians, gowned and mutton-chopped, manfully descended the sweeping, three-story staircase, seeking degrees in theology from the University of Toronto, grappling tooth and claw with the encroaching science of Darwinism. 

The array of dormers, turrets and gables gave the place a medieval, church-like facade, the arches of the timbered doors and stained glass windows pointing virtuously heavenward. Affording a clear view of the lake, the 115-foot bell tower, flanked by a gaggle of gargoyles, gazed severely southward from College Street, as if damning the immigrant sinners of the Spadina strip, seeking not degrees, but degrees of pleasure. Forbidding Toronto Presbyterians, who believed that only a predestined elect could be saved – the religious version of survival of the fittest – inspired an irreverent epithet, “God’s Frozen People.” 

In 1915, the theological college relocated once again, making way for the Spadina Military Hospital. Here, a tomboyish 20-year-old American, Amelia Earhart, nursed the walking wounded of the Great War. Staying on to tend victims of the devastating Spanish flu pandemic of 1918-19, the doomed aviatrix watched military bi-planes sputter across the sky and dreamt of celestial escape.

For a time, the buff brick, ivied walls of 1 Spadina housed armouries for the Toronto Regiment; then, during the Depression, it fell vacant. In 1943, Connaught Laboratories bought and refurbished the badly dilapidated building and pumped out millions of bottles of penicillin and dried blood serum, round the clock, for Canadian forces overseas. A decade later, Connaught scientists helped create the Jonas Salk polio vaccine, which saved countless baby boomers from disability or death. In 1972, the university sold the labs.
Nowadays, pedestrians dodge clanging streetcars to reach the two-acre mid-city island. Inside, they’ll find a hodgepodge of academic fiefdoms, including a student newspaper whose dusty archives occupy a decrepit walk-in refrigerator. (The paper’s entire staff was once infested with fleas, likely from the pigeons used in psychology experiments next door). 

In January 2001, David Buller, a lecturer in the department of fine art, was found stabbed to death outside his second floor office; the murder remains unsolved, a $50,000 reward unclaimed. On the first floor, cabbies scuttle into The Eye Bank of Canada in the dead of night, delivering blood red thermoses marked “Human Eyes,” freshly bequeathed for use in research and as surgical tissue. Ghostly artefacts of the long gone Connaught still litter the cockroach-ridden basement; the tangle of rusty nozzles, pipes, tanks, centrifuges and discarded drums of crystalline penicillin constitutes, ironically, a public health hazard.

A $25 million funding drive is afoot to revive the gothic bones of the original Knox College, the historic intersection of religion, science, war and homicide. The latest tenant will be, fittingly, U of T’s consolidated department of fine art – eye witnesses to the past, the cosmic collisions of Bible and test tube, the ceaseless business of saving and being saved.

